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Benin Port Project Request for Qualification 
(RfQ) - Pre-Application Conference  

Meeting Details  

Date: February 22, 2023 

Time:  12:00 PM (West Africa Standard Time, GMT + 1) 

Venue: Virtual: Via Zoom 

Objective The objective of the conference was to provide further context and in-depth 
background on the Benin Port Project (BRP) to potential bidders and provide 
a platform to address any inquiries or concerns bidders may have on the 
project in general, and towards their bid development. 

Table 1: Meeting Information 

 Background  
The Federal Ministry of Transportation (FMOT) and the Nigerian Ports Authority (NPA), in 
collaboration with the Edo State Government (EDSG), are desirous of developing the Benin Port 
(on an area of approximately 20 hectares) under a public-private partnership (PPP) arrangement 
(“Benin Port Project” or the “Project”). The purpose of the Project is to enhance the national 
water transportation capacity and develop a multi-purpose port with capability to handle 
container and general cargo. 

The Project is in line with EDSG’s strategic integrated infrastructure plan to promote 
infrastructure development, attract investment, create employment and stimulate economic 
growth. EDSG’s vision is to develop in the future an Agro-Industrial Park (on an area of 
approximately 717 hectares) adjacent to the Benin Port which will have a positive impact on the 
port and which the private partner can leverage to create ancillary services and facilities.  

The Project has been certified by the Federal Government of Nigeria (FGN) through the 
Infrastructure Concession Regulatory Commission (ICRC) as eligible for a PPP. EDSG and the 
Nigerian Ports Authority (NPA) will act as counterparts for the PPP. 

On February 15, 2023, advertisements for Request for Qualification (RfQ) were launched on 
various media platforms, both local and international. A virtual pre-application conference was 
conducted on February 22, 2023, to address any inquiries or concerns bidders may have on the 
project in general and the RfQ in particular.  

Please refer to the following clarifications.  
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 Clarifications 

S.No. RFQ Clause Reference Question/Clarification Discussion / Response 

1 General Is the capacity of the 
port confirmed or is it 
subject to deliberation 
and change?  

 

It was clarified that the minimum port 
capacity of (300,000) TEUs was 
determined based on feasibility analysis 
undertaken for the Project, feedback from 
the market sounding and inputs from the 
PDT. To this end, the Applicants will be 
evaluated based on what has been 
outlined in the RfQ.  
Applicants are welcome to submit 
proposals that propose higher port 
capacity based on their own due 
diligence and business plans. 

2 General What is the approval 
process for the project 
implementation like? 
Has the project been 
approved by the 
relevant regulatory 
authorities? And are 
there any pending 
approvals that may 
mitigate the execution 
of the transaction? 

The OBC approval has been granted a 
Certificate of Compliance (CoC) by 
ICRC, the PPP regulatory authority in 
Nigeria. In addition the various relevant 
Ministries in the form of the PSC and PDT 
(InterGovernmental committees which 
are overseeing the project) have given 
their support and approval. Further to 
this, these committees have 
prescheduled meetings towards 
reviewing and assessing the transaction 
every step of the way. 
Seven hundred and thirty-seven (737) 
hectares of land required for the project 
has been issued certificate of occupancy 
by the Edo state government and that the 
required land is now at the disposal of the 
project. In terms of environmental 
approvals, all relevant certifications have 
been issued including the ESIA.  

3.  General Please provide clarity 
on the duration of the 
concession. 

The OBC CoC, issued by ICRC, has 
specified the concession period to be 
thirty two (32) years; with two (2) years for 
construction and thirty (30) years for port 
operations. 

4.  General Are there plans for 
further expansion of 
the port? 

Further to response to question no.1, 
prospective bidders have the flexibility to 
propose future expansion plans based on 
their assessment. The draft PPP 
Agreement will also provide a framework 
for expansion of port facilities triggered by 
actual realized traffic volumes.  

5.  General What is the berth 
depth? Are there 
expectations for small 
vessels? 

Various investigations have been 
conducted, and the minimum navigable 
depth has been assessed to be 6 meters. 
If the applicants require greater depth, 
this can be proposed in their bids, and 
discussed at a later stage of the 
transaction. 
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S.No. RFQ Clause Reference Question/Clarification Discussion / Response 

6.  General What is the expected 
CAPEX for the design 
capacity of the port? 

The CAPEX should be a function of the 
overall facility proposed by the applicant. 
Nevertheless, as per estimates, the 
capital investment from the private sector 
should range between $400 million USD 
to $600 million USD. 

7.  General Can applicants count 
the experience of their 
affiliates or associates 
in the development of 
the proposal vis a vis 
certain requirement in 
the RfQ? 

This depends on the relationship of the 
applicants. It will be considered on a 
case-by-case basis and provided that a 
copy of the evidence confirming/clarifying 
the relationship is submitted by the 
applicant. 

8.  General What is the envisaged 
timeline for the 
project’s execution? 

The project execution team intends to 
comply with a timeline set by ICRC; this 
timeline has slated award of contract for 
May 2023. 

9.  General What is the position of 
the Benin port relative 
to the existence of the 
Lagos port and other 
existing ports in 
Nigeria? 

The Lagos port has been overwhelmed, 
cargo supply exceeds storage capacity, 
further to this, the cost of moving cargo is 
expensive due to the lack of an existing 
evacuation corridor. Benin port will offer 
an advantage by providing an alternative 
route with more capacity for container 
storage and an evacuation corridor, 
which will be much cheaper for importers. 
Currently, Nigeria is underperforming due 
to the recession, our long-term forecast 
shows that Nigeria will get back on track. 
From a traffic flow point of view, we are 
optimistic and bullish on the port of Benin. 
As the bid process matures, we will be 
able to add capacity for agro-
commodities. To this end, the benefit of 
Benin unlike the other ports, is that Benin 
will be able to generate its own traffic. 
There is a potential for the Benin port to 
become an aggregator of agricultural 
commodity. 

10.  RfQ clause 1.1.6 
 
”EDSG’s and NPA’s 
responsibilities will 
include:  

i. Delivery of an 
encumbrance-free 
project site  
ii. Dredging and 
maintenance of river 
channel 
iii. Construction of 
access road 
iv. Facilitation of all 
necessary approvals” 

What is the status of 
the access road and 
river channel 
dredging? If none, 
what is the plan? 

With respect to the access road and 
dredging, all technical investigations 
have been completed. In terms of who 
bears the responsibility, we are open to 
various possibilities and structures, but 
we cannot lump them all together.  

11.  RfQ clause 2.3 
 

In the case where the 
applicant has just two 
members, can the lead 

The Maximum number in a consortium is 
four (4), and yes, the lead member must 
hold at least 26% even in a consortium of 
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S.No. RFQ Clause Reference Question/Clarification Discussion / Response 

2.3.1 Number of 
members in a 
consortium shall not 
exceed four (4). 
2.3.2 Members of the 
Consortium shall 
nominate one member 
as the lead member (the 
“Lead Member”), who 
shall have an equity 
share holding of at least 
26% (twenty six per 
cent) of the paid up and 
subscribed equity of the 
SPV (refer clause 
1.2.9). 

member be allowed to 
have an equity share 
of at least 26%? 

just two. The shareholding will have an 
impact on the evaluation of Financial 
Capacity for the Consortium. The 
Applicants are advised to review this 
clause in this context.  

12.  RfQ clause 2.3.5 and 
2.3.7.  
 
2.3.5 The members of a 
Consortium shall form 
an appropriate SPV to 
execute the Project, if 
awarded to the 
Consortium. 
2.3.6  Members of the 
Consortium shall enter 
into a binding Joint 
Bidding Agreement, 
substantially in the form 
specified at Form IV (the 
“Joint Bidding 
Agreement”), for the 
purpose of making the 
Application and 
submitting a Bid in the 
event of being short-
listed.  
2.3.7 The Joint Bidding 
Agreement, to be 
submitted along with the 
Application, shall, inter 
alia: 
 
Convey the intent to 
form an SPV with 
shareholding/ 
ownership equity 
commitment(s) in 
accordance with this 
RFQ, which would enter 
into the Concession 
Agreement and 
subsequently perform 
all the obligations of the 
Concessionaire in terms 
of the Concession 
Agreement, in case the 

Does this mean that all 
members of the 
consortium must also 
be members of the 
SPV? 

The understanding is correct. 
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S.No. RFQ Clause Reference Question/Clarification Discussion / Response 

concession to undertake 
the Project is awarded 
to the Consortium; 
 

i. Clearly outline 
the proposed roles 
and responsibilities, if 
any, of each member; 

ii. Commit the 
minimum equity stake 
to be held by each 
member; 

iii. Notwithstanding 
Clause Error! 
Reference source 
not found., commit 
that each of the 
members, whose 
experience will be 
evaluated for the 
purposes of this RFQ, 
shall subscribe to  
15% (fifteen per cent) 
or more of the paid up 
and subscribed 
equity of the SPV and 
shall further commit 
that each such 
member shall, for a 
period of 2 (two) 
years from the date of 
commercial operation 
of the Project. 

iv. Members of the 
Consortium 
undertake that they 
shall collectively hold 
at least 51% (fifty one 
per cent) of the 
subscribed and paid 
up equity of the SPV 
at all times until the 
second anniversary 
of the commercial 
operation date of the 
Project; and 

v. Include a 
statement to the 
effect that all 
members of the 
Consortium shall be 
liable jointly and 
severally for all 
obligations of the 
Concessionaire in 
relation to the Project 
until the Financial 
Close of the Project is 
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S.No. RFQ Clause Reference Question/Clarification Discussion / Response 

achieved in 
accordance with the 
Concession 
Agreement. 

13.  RfQ clause 3.4.1    
 
To demonstrate 
financial capacity for the 
Project, Applicant shall 
have the following 
capabilities, preceding 
the deadline for 
submission of the 
Application: 
i. The Applicant 
should have a minimum 
cumulative turnover of 
USD Two Billion (2) 
billion for the last (5) five 
consecutive years. 
ii. The Applicant 
shall have a minimum 
Aggregate Net Worth of 
USD One Hundred 
Twenty Five (125) 
million at the close of 
preceding financial year. 
iii. The Applicant 
(Sole Bidder or all 
Members of the 
Consortium) should 
have profitable 
operations for the at 
least (3) three of the last 
(5) five consecutive 
years as demonstrated 
by audited financial 
statements. 

In a situation where 
any or one member of 
the consortium meets 
the requirement, will 
this be accepted? 

One member can fulfil the requirements. 
Please note that the Turnover 
requirement is cumulative i.e. aggregate 
over last 5 years.  

14.  With reference to 
Appendix items 9 and 
10;  
 
9. Letter of 
Confirmation issued by 
the Applicant disclosing 
that the company does 
not have any director 
who has been convicted 
in any country for any 
criminal offence relating 
to fraud of financial 
impropriety or criminal 
misrepresentation or 
falsification of facts 
relating to any matter. 
10. Letter of 
Confirmation issued by 

Usually this is done 
using a sworn affidavit 
due to the notarization. 
Should we use a sworn 
affidavit or letter of 
confirmation? 

A letter on the Applicant’s letter head and 
signed by two company directors should 
be used. 
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S.No. RFQ Clause Reference Question/Clarification Discussion / Response 

the Applicant disclosing 
whether any official of 
the FGN, EDSG, NPA or 
any of its agencies is a 
former or present 
director, shareholder or 
has any pecuniary 
interest in the bidder 
and confirmation that all 
information presented in 
the bid are true and 
correct. 

15.  With reference to 
Appendix item 8: 
 
8 Three (3) references 
from Clients on past 
performance. 
 

Can a job completion 
certificate be used in 
this regard? Please, 
provide information on 
what exactly is 
needed. 

Job completion certificates along with 
contact details of three references. Part 
of ICRC’s regulations stipulates that, if 
necessary, we must be able to carry out 
due diligence on applicants provided 
references. Applicants may provide job 
completion certificates, in addition to 
contact details of 3 past clients. 

16.  With reference to 
Appendix item 4: 
 
4 Audited Financial 
Statements last five (5) 
financial years for all 
Members of the 
Applicant. 
 

Since we are in 
February of 2023, can 
the report of 2021 be 
used? And Can you 
clarify on the copies of 
the quarter statement 
to be provided seeing 
that the full financial 
statement covers this? 

If the audited financial statement for 2022 
is unavailable, it is suggested that 
Applicants submit the latest available 
audited financial statements, along with 
quarterly financials statement for 
subsequent periods to provide proof of 
your firm’s ability to function as a 
profitable company. Please refer to 
clause 3.5 of the RFQ. 

  

 


